
SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capital Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501  
(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

NOTICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING 
PUBLIC HEARING ON PROPOSED NEW RULE CHANGE 

AND QUARTERLY BUSINESS MEETING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the South Dakota Commission on Gaming will hold  administrative 
hearings, a public hearing on proposed rules and its quarterly business meeting on December 14, 2022 
beginning at 9:00 a.m. MST in the City Commission Chambers at Deadwood City Hall, 102 Sherman 
Street, Deadwood, South Dakota   

Join Zoom Meeting 

https://state-sd.zoom.us/j/92524393171?pwd=VkhaMllvRnloR1d1d0VZWmwzd01pZz09 
Meeting ID: 925 2439 3171 
Passcode: 605968 
When prompted state or enter your name  

Join by telephone Dial: 

+1 669 900 9128 US
When prompted enter the Participation ID: 925 2439 3171 
When prompted enter the passcode: 605968 
When prompted state your name followed by the # 

All participants will be muted when joining the meeting. 
Dial in participants *6 mute/unmute, * 9 to raise your hand 

AGENDA 
Call to Order 

Conflicts of Interest Disclosure 

ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS  PAGES 3 - 48 

1) Stewards Ruling Number 2022-03-FTP Gilbert W, Ecoffey      PAGES 21 - 25

2) Stewards Ruling Number 2022-03-FTP Robert D. Johnson     PAGES 26 - 28

3) Stewards Ruling Number 2022-06-FTP  Perry Cavanaugh       PAGES 29 - 31

4) South Dakota Commission on Gaming vs Mathew Steinlicht  PAGES 32 -40

5) South Dakota Commission on Gaming vs BY Development    PAGES 41 - 48

PROPOSED RULE AMENDMENTS PAGES 49 - 52 

1) ARSD 20:18:12.01:16. Premise monitoring required PAGE 49 - 50

2) ARSD 20:18:12.01:23  Age of participants PAGE 49 – 50

   Page 1 of 98 

https://state-sd.zoom.us/j/92524393171?pwd=VkhaMllvRnloR1d1d0VZWmwzd01pZz09
REPR16052
Cross-Out



QUARTERLY BUSINESS MEETING 

Adoption of Quarterly Business Meeting Agenda 

Approval of the minutes of Quarterly Meeting of September 28, 2022 PAGES 53 – 6 1

Old Business 

Comments Executive Secretary Susan Christian 

Live Racing Matters  

• Approval of 2023 Ft Pierre/Verendrye Benevolent Association live race dates   PAGES 62 - 64

• Approval of Resolution 12-14-22-01 for release of deposit in lieu of bond       PAGE 65

Racing Licensing matters 

• Approval Triple Crown Simulcast Site Renewal  PAGE 66

• Approval AmWest Entertainment OTB, LLC Simulcast Provider Renewal PAGES 67 - 69

Deadwood Licensing Matters PAGES 70 - 97  

Approval of Dates of 2023 quarterly commission meetings PAGE 98 

• Tuesday March 14th

• Tuesday June 13th

• Tuesday September 12th

• Tuesday December 12th

Public Comment 

Executive Session pursuant to SDCL 1-25-2 (1) (3) and (4) and 42-7B-8.1 (4) 

Decisions on Administrative Hearings 

Adjournment   

SUSAN CHRISTIAN, CIA 
Executive Secretary 

For access, persons with special needs may call the Commission office (605) 578-3074.  

 Page 2 of 98 



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

BOARD OF STEWARDS FORT PIERRE RACETRACK 

FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDTIONS 

In the Matter of Violations of Racing Medication Rules October 1 and 2, 2022 

I. BACKGROUND

Following the running of races at Fort Pierre on October 1 and 2, 2022 the director of the Center 
For Tox Services, the official racing testing laboratory for the South Dakota Commission on 
Gaming, notified the Executive Secretary of the Commission that 21 blood samples had levels of 
permitted medication, mostly phyenlbutazone, which was found to exceed the quantitative 
limits set forth in South Dakota Commission on Gaming racing rules. 

The Executive Secretary informed the Board of Stewards of these findings and scheduled 
Stewards hearings which were held on November 10, 2022.  

The authority of the Stewards to impose penalties for racing rule violations is set by SDCL 42-7- 
96 to suspend racing licenses for a maximum of four racing days and a fine not to exceed Five 
Hundred Dollars. This statute also provides “ If the racing judges or stewards find that a penalty 
which exceeds their limits to impose should be rendered, they may not impose any penalty and 
shall forward their findings and conclusions and recommendations to the commission for final 
agency action.” 

In these cases, the penalty limits of the stewards were further limited by ARSD 20:04:27:16 which 
states “ A trainer, owner or veterinarian found guilty of violation any provision of ARSD 
20:04:27:14  ( the rule that sets restrictions on authorized drugs and which the trainers involved 
were cited for violating) shall be fined by the board of stewards not more than $250 or 
suspended for period of not more than four horse racing days….” 

ARSD 20:04:27:12 allows more severe penalties to be imposed in cases where illegal substances 
are found in blood or urine samples taken from racehorses. The inconsistency between these 
two rules is a matter which will be addressed in the “Recommendations” section of this 
document. 

The laboratory reports for seven horses indicated medication levels above those set in South 
Dakota Commission on Gaming racing rules but at levels that, in the opinion of the Board of 
Stewards, were not extremely above the authorized limit and the Stewards resolved those cases 
in the hearings that were held on November 10, 2022. In those cases, the Stewards imposed the 
maximum penalty allowed under ARSD 20:04:27:14, which was a fine of $250.00. 

Page 3 of 98



Because of the high levels of medication detected in the other samples the Stewards have 
referred those cases to the Commission on Gaming with their Findings, Conclusions and 
Recommendations, as provided by SDCL 42-7-96. 

PHENYLBUTAZONE 

Phenylbutazone , commonly known as “bute” has been widely used in racehorses since the late 
1970’s or early 1980’s.  It is a pain reliever and  non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NASID), 
similar to Ibuprofen for use by humans.  

It is typically administered to horses orally but can be injected or applied to the legs by using a 
paste. The two most common methods of administering the drug orally is to mix “bute “ tablets 
or powder in the horse’s feed or to dissolve the tables in water and administer this liquid to the 
horse, usually by using a large syringe without a needle. Some “old school” trainers will cap one 
end of a short length of garden hose with paper, break up the tablets, mix the tablet fragments 
with water inside the hose, insert the open end of the hose into the horse’s mouth and “blow” 
the mixture into the horse’s throat. 

FLUNIXIN 

Flunixin, also known as Banamine, is also a NASID that is used in horses to reduce pain and 
inflammation. By Federal law this drug can only be used by or on the order of a licensed 
veterinarian. 

ASSOCIATION OF RACING COMMISSIONERS INTERNATIONAL (ARCI) 
PROCESS FOR DETERMINING THERAPEUTIC MEDICATION GUIDELINES 

The South Dakota Commission on Gaming has adopted the Association of Racing 
Commissioners International most recent Controlled Therapeutic Medication Schedule for 
Horses, Version 4.2.1 which was most recently revised in December 2020. 

This document is reviewed and updated periodically, and therapeutic levels of some drugs are 
changed from time to time as more research is conducted on the effects of those drugs in 
racehorses. 

The process for changing the document usually starts with recommendations from the Racing 
Medication and Testing Consortium (RMTC).  The RMTC was founded in 2001 with the goal of 
advancing uniformity in medication policy for racehorses. It is governed by a board of directors 
representing 23 racing organizations or associations including major horse racetracks, horse 
owners and trainers, the Racing Commissions International and the Jockeys’ Guild. 

These recommendations are then presented to the ARCI Model Rules and Practices Committee, 
which consists of 11 racing commissioners and commission executive directors. This Committee 

Page 4 of 98



holds public hearings and take testimony on proposed rule changes from interest persons, 
usually representing horse owners and trainers, racetrack veterinarians ( both regulatory and 
private practice) and jockeys.  Some matters are also vetted by the ARCI’s Drug Testing 
Standards and Procedures Committee, which is comprised of 11 racing commissioners, 
commission executive directors and commission veterinarians.  The Model Rules and Practices 
Committee’s recommendations are then forwarded to the full membership of the ARCI, or its 
Executive Board for final adoption. 

The goal of this process is to develop rules, in a manner that allows representative of all 
stakeholders to participate,  which will allow certain medications to be administered to 
racehorses but at levels that will not potentially affect the performance of a horse during a race. 
It is the opinion of the experts involved in the process that drugs that are found in a blood 
sample above the permitted levels could impact the performance of a horse during a race. 

Multiple Medication Violation (MMV) Point System 

The ARCI has also developed a “point system” under which trainers receive points upon a 
finding by a board of stewards or a racing commission that the trainer has violated a medication 
rule. The license of a trainer who receives five points or more in a one year period can be 
suspended for a period of 15 to 360 days depending upon the number of points received.  The 
SDCOG has adopted this point system in ARSD 20:04:27:17. 

II. FINDINGS

The Board of Stewards submit the following Findings to the Commission pursuant to SDCL 42-7-
96.  

1) Blood samples taken from seven  horses that were trained by Gilbert W. Ecoffey  that
raced on October 1 and 2, 2022 contained Phyenlbutazone  or Flunixin in amounts which
exceeded the limits allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

The names of those horses, the races in which they ran and the amount of Phenylbutazone 
detected in each blood sample are described in further detail in Stewards Ruling 2022-01-FTP, 
which is attached hereto as Appendix A. 

The blood sample taken from the horse Stern, following the first race on October 2, 2022 
contained both Phenylbutazone and Flunixin.  The presence of more than one NASID in the 
same blood sample is a violation of ARSD 20:04:27:14. 

Mr. Ecoffey testified that owner Eric Raemaker had recently purchased Stern, and that Stern’s 
previous trainer may have been upset about losing the horse from his or her stable and 

Page 5 of 98



administered a large amount of the drug to the horse in an attempt to create a violation if the 
horse was tested in the near future. 

The Stewards find Mr. Ecoffey  is  responsible for the condition of the horse regardless of the 
acts of other persons under ARSD 20:04:21:14, which states “The trainer of the horse shall be 
responsible for and be the absolute insurer of the condition of the horse he enters regardless of 
the acts of other parties.” 

Purse money won by those horses trained by Mr. Ecoffey was $14,895.00. 

2) Blood samples taken from three horses trained by Robert Don Johnson contained
Phenylbutazone in amounts which exceeded the limits allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

The names of those horses, the races in which they ran and the amount of Phyenlbutazone 
found in each blood sample are described in further detail in Stewards Ruling Number2022-03-
FTP, which is attached hereto as Appendix B. 

Purse money won by those horses trained by Mr. Johnson was $13,500.00. 

Mr. Johnson testified that he did know what the allowable level for bute is under SDCOG rules. It 
was pointed out that some of the SDCOG medication rules and reference to ARCI Controlled 
Therapeutic Medication Schedule for Horses Version 4.2.1 was printed in the  track’s condition 
book. 

Mr. Johnson stated that 1) he did not get a copy of the condition book until after he had 
entered some of the horses and 2) he did not read the condition book. 

The Board of Stewards does not find that testimony credible. Condition books are published by  
track management at all horse track as the primary method of informing trainers of the types of 
races which will be run at the track and of track rules.  Examples of the type of information 
contained in the 2022 Condition Book for the Fort Pierre Racetrack are shown in Appendix D. 

The Board of Stewards also find  Mr. Johnson’s testimony that he did not read the condition 
book to have the same legal weight as a driver who is contesting a speeding ticket telling the 
Court, ”I never read the speed limit signs.” 

Mr. Johnson  testified that Steward Larry Eliason told him the South Dakota limit for bute is “ the 
same as Wyoming.”  Steward Eliason stated during the hearing that he has no recollection of 
any such conversation and neither of other two Stewards had any recollection of any such 
conversation. 

3) Blood samples taken from three horses trained by owner/trainer Perry Cavanaugh which
raced at Fort Pierre on October 1 , 2022 contained Phenylbutazone in amounts which
exceeded the limits allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

Page 6 of 98



The names of those horses, the races in which they ran and the amount of Phenylbutazone 
which was detected in blood samples taken from each horse are described in further detail in 
Stewards Ruling Number 2022-06 FTP, which is attached hereto as Appendix C. 

Purse money won by those horses trained by Mr. Cavanaugh was $2,575.00. 

The Stewards are aware that Robert Johnson and Gilbert W. Ecoffey are professional racehorse 
trainers who have been licensed and competed in several jurisdictions for decades. These 
trainers are aware that medication rules, and other racing rules such as restrictions on claimed 
horses, vary from state to state and that as professionals they are responsible to know and 
follow the rules at the location(s) at which they are competing. 

The “absolute insurer rule” is in force in every US racing jurisdiction and is one of the bedrocks 
of racing regulation.  In South Dakota  it is codified as ARSD 20:04:21:14, which states, “The 
trainer shall be responsible for and be the absolute insurer of the condition of the horse he 
enters regardless of the acts of other parties.” 

ARSD 20:04:17:03 states “ Every licensee shall make himself aware of any amendments to these 
rules.” 

III. RECOMMENDATIONS

Because South Dakota only has one weekend of racing the lab results are not known to the 
Executive Secretary or the Stewards until after the season is concluded. The short season 
also makes license suspension by the Stewards not a viable option.  A license suspension of 
four racing days would, in effect, be a suspension of two years which is much more  severe 
than the Stewards believe should be imposed for these offenses. 

In normal circumstances the Stewards would deal with offenses such  as in these cases by 
imposing a fine on the trainer involved and disqualifying the horse from first, second or 
whichever place it ran and redistribute the purse to owners of other horses in that race.  In 
these cases, because of the limit of the Stewards imposed by ARSD 20:04:27:16, which does 
not provide for disqualification of the horse the Stewards felt that due to the seriousness of 
these cases the matters should be referred  to the Commission for final agency action.

The statutes do not impose a limit on the amount of fine the Commission can impose for 
violations of racing rules. 

 The Stewards are aware that the owners have already received the purse money and that 
the owners are not defendants in these cases. Owners do not administer drugs to horses 
that are on a racetrack. Trainers do.  It is the opinion of the Stewards that a fine of a 

Page 7 of 98



significant amount against the trainers involved would send a message to all trainers that 
such conduct will not be tolerated in South Dakota horse racing in the future.   

The ARCI penalty guidelines for these offenses are a minimum fine of $1,000, disqualification 
and loss of purse for the horse and the horse must pass an examination by a commission 
approved veterinarian before being eligible to run. In these cases, disqualification of the 
horse and redistribution of the purse are not an option because of the penalty limits of 
ARSD 20:04:27:16. 

The Commission can place the horses on a restricted list, known in the industry as a “Vet’s 
List”, until such time as it has passed a prerace exam by a veterinarian approved by the 
Commission. This could be a Racing Commission regulatory veterinarian in another state, if 
so designated by the Executive Secretary. 

In addition to the fines recommended above be imposed on the trainers the Stewards 
recommend the Commission authorize the Executive Secretary to place the horses involved 
on a restricted list until it has passed an examination by a commission approved veterinarian. 

The Stewards recognize that while these cases involve multiple violations they all occurred 
during one weekend. Because of that the trainers were not notified of the violations in time 
to withdraw their horses from a race or make changes to their medication practices. For 
these reasons the Stewards recommend that the Commission assign each trainer only ½ 
point in total for these violations for purposes of the MMV point system.  

The long-term solution to resolve situations such as this without a hearing before the 
Commission is to repeal ARSD 20:24:17:16.  That would allow penalties for improper use of 
authorized medications to be handled under ARSD 20:25:17:12 and SDCL 42-7-96  which 
give the Stewards much more latitude, especially when dealing with the disqualification of a 
horse. The Stewards realize that this is a subject for discussion at a future Commission 
meeting. 

Copies of the statutes and rules cited in this report are attached as Appendix E. 

Dated November 16, 2022. 

Lloyd Just  Larry Eliason Doug Runge     

Presiding Steward State Steward Association Steward

Page 8 of 98



APPENDIX A PAGE 1

Page 9 of 98

REPR16052
Sticky Note
Accepted set by REPR16052



APPENDIX A PAGE 2

Page 10 of 98



APPENDIX B

Page 11 of 98



APPENDIX C

Page 12 of 98



APPENDIX D

Page 13 of 98



Page 14 of 98



Page 15 of 98



Page 16 of 98



Page 17 of 98



Page 18 of 98



Page 19 of 98



Page 20 of 98



Sent Certified USPS 
11/14/2022 and hand 
delivered 11/10/2022

Page 21 of 98



Page 22 of 98



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Susan Christian, do hereby certify that I served a copy of the foregoing Notice of Hearing upon: 

Gilbert W. Ecoffey 

By Hand Delivered on the 10th day of November 2021 

Page 23 of 98



DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capitol Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 

(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

STEWARDS RULING NUMBER 2022-01-FTP 

Gilbert W. Ecoffey 

The Board of Stewards of the Fort Pierre Racetrack has determined that the blood samples taken 

from: 

1) Dance for Ransom for the first (1st) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022

contained Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.5 microgram/milliliter. This is five (5 )times the

amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

2) Maximus the Great for the second (2nd) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022

contained Phenylbutazone in the amount of .6 microgram/milliliter. This is two (2) times the

amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

3) New Gospel for the fourth (4th) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 2.4 microgram/milliliter. This is eight (8) times the allowed by

ARSD 20:04:27:14.

4) Pref Right for the sixth (6th) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 2.0 microgram/milliliter. This is more than six (6) times the

amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

5) Goodnightsugar for the sixth (6th) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022

contained Phenylbutazone in the amount of 2.8 microgram/milliliter. This is 9.3 times the

amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

6) Stern for the first (15
� race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 4.7 microgram/milliliter. This is more than fifteen (15) times

the amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

7) Stern for the first (15
� race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained Flunixin

in the amount of 10 nanograms/milliliter. This is two (2) times the amount allowed by ARSD

20:04:27:14.

8) Stern for the (15
� race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained Flunixin and

Phenylbutazone. Per ARSD 20:04:27:14 only one NSAID may be used.

Page 24 of 98



Page 25 of 98



DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capitol Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 
(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

NOTICE OF HEARING 

Notice is hereby given that an administrative hearing will be held before the South Dakota 

Commission on Gaming on Wednesday, December 14, 2022, at 9:00 o'clock a.m. MST in the City 

Commission Chambers in the Deadwood City Hall, 102 Sherman Street, Deadwood, South Dakota. 

The purpose of this hearing is to take action on Stewards Ruling Number 2022-03-FTP. The hearing is 

held under the authority and jurisdiction SDCL 42-7-56(8), (12) and (13), 42-7-96 and 42-7-91, and 

ARSD 20:04:28:02, 20:04:28:04, 20:04:28:13 and 20:04:17:05. 

The following rules, among others, may be considered by the commission during the hearing: 

ARSD 20:04:27:14 (Restrictions on use of authorized drugs) and ARSD 20:04:27:16 {penalty of use of 

illegal substances). 

The matter to be asserted is that the report of the official chemist indicates the blood samples taken 

from the following: 

1) Kikntires Nlitnfires for the third (3rd) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.7 microgram/milliliter. This is more than five (5 )times the amount

allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

2) Bhr Light My Spark for the third (3rd) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.8 microgram/milliliter. This is six (6) times the amount allowed by

ARSD 20:04:27:14.

3) Hasta Be Relentless for the third (3rd) at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.1 microgram/milliliter. This is more than three (3) times the amount

allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

Copies of the statues and rules cited above are available at the Commission on Gaming office at 87 

Sherman Street, Deadwood SD, or the Commission's website www.dor.sd.gov/gaming. 

As a result of this hearing the Commission may impose a fine in any amount determined by the 

Commission per SDCL 42-7-96. 

This is an adversary proceeding and will be conducted as a "contested case" in accordance with SDCL 

Chapter 1-26. You have the right to be present at the hearing, to be represented by a lawyer, to call 

witnesses to testify on your behalf and to question witnesses that testify against you. These and other 

due process rights will be forfeited if they are not exercised at the hearing. 

Page 26 of 98



If the amount in controversy exceeds Two Thousand Five Hundred dollars ($2,500.00) or if a property 

right may be terminated any party may require the Commission to use the South Dakota Office of 

Hearing Examiners by giving notice to the Commission no later than 10 days after service of this Notice 
of Hearing, which is issued pursuant to SDCL 1-26-17. 

Any decision of the Commission may be appealed to the Circuit Court and the Supreme Court as 
provided by law. 

Dated the 10th day of November 2022 

Susan Christian, CIA 
Executive Secretary 
South Dakota Commission on Gaming 
445 E. Capital Avenue 
Pierre, SD, 57501 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Susan Christian, do hereby certify that I served a copy of the foregoing Notice of Hearing upon: 

Robert Don Johnson 

By USPS Certified Mail with postage prepaid on the 10th day of November 2021 

Page 27 of 98



DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

Robert Don Johnson 

SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capitol Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 

(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

STEWARDS RULING NUMBER 2022-03-FTP 

The Board of Stewards of the Fort Pierre Racetrack has determined that the blood samples taken from: 

1) Kikntires Nlitnfires for the third (3rd) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.7 microgram/milliliter. This is more than five (5 )times the amount

allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

2) Bhr Light My Spark for the third (3rd) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.8 microgram/milliliter. This is six (6) times the amount allowed by

ARSD 20:04:27:14.

3) Hasta Be Relentless for the third (3rd) at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 2, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.1 microgram/milliliter. This is more than three (3) times the amount

allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

The Board of Stewards has determined that per 42-7-96. Suspensions and fines by racing judges or 

stewards--Notice and hearing--Appeals--Reference to commission they will not impose any penalty and 

forward their findings and conclusions and recommendations to the commission for final agency action. 

Dated in Pierre, South Dakota the 10th day of November 2022. 

�#� 
Larry Eliason 

State Steward Association Steward 

Page 28 of 98



Page 29 of 98



If the amount in controversy exceeds Two Thousand Five Hundred dollars ($2,500.00) or if a property right may 
be terminated any party may require the Commission to use the South Dakota Office of Hearing Examiners by 
giving notice to the Commission no later than 10 days after service of this Notice of Hearing, which is issued 
pursuant to SDCL 1-26-17. 

Any decision of the Commission may be appealed to the Circuit Court and the Supreme Court as provided by 
law. 

Dated the 10th day of November 2022 

Susan Christian, CIA 
Executive Secretary 
South Dakota Commission on Gaming 
445 E. Capital Avenue 
Pierre, SD, 57501 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Susan Christian, do hereby certify that I served a copy of the foregoing Notice of Hearing upon: 

Perry Cavanaugh 

Delivered by E-mail and By USPS Certified Mail with postage prepaid on the 10th day of November 2021 

Page 30 of 98



DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

Perry Cavanaugh  

SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capitol Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 

(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

STEWARDS RULING NUMBER 2022-06-FTP 

The Board of Stewards of the Fort Pierre Racetrack has determined that the blood samples taken 

from: 

1) All For Truth for the first (1st) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 4.5 microgram/milliliter. This is fifteen (15) times the amount

allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

2) Krews Pass for the fourth (4th) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022 contained

Phenylbutazone in the amount of 1.4 microgram/milliliter. This is more than four (4) times the

amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

3) Molly's Challenge for the fifth (5th) race at the Fort Pierre Racetrack on October 1, 2022

contained Phenylbutazone in the amount of 2.3 microgram/milliliter. This is more than seven (7)

times the amount allowed by ARSD 20:04:27:14.

The Board of Stewards has determined that per 42-7-96. Suspensions and fines by racing judges 

or stewards--Notice and hearing--Appeals--Reference to commission they will not impose any 

penalty and forward their findings and conclusions and recommendations to the commission for 

final agency action. 

Dated in Pierre, South Dakota the 10th day of November 2022. 

Lloyd Just 

fr�;� 
Larry Eliason 

State Steward Association Steward 

Page 31 of 98



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capital Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 (605) 
773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

TO: Commissioners 
FROM: Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 
SUBJECT: Recommended action on SDCG Initial Complaint # 22-11-110 
DATE: December 14, 2022 

On November 9, 2022, the Notice of Hearing on South Dakota Commission on Gaming Initial 
Complaint # 22-11-110 was delivered to Mathew Steinlicht’s legal counsel. The complaint alleges 
that while working at Mustang Sally's during the month of August 2022, Mathew Steinlicht placed 
multiple proxy sports bets for multiple underage individuals. 

On November 28, 2022 a letter was received from Mr. Steinlicht stating he is asserting his fifth 
amendment right and voluntarily surrendering his license. South Dakota Commission on Gaming is 
in possession of South Dakota Commission on Gaming License# 8842-16-SP to Mr. Steinlicht. 

Staff is requesting that the Commission revoke the license issued to Matthew Steinlicht per : 

SDCL 42-7B-75 Cancellation or revocation of voluntarily surrendered license. 

Any license granted pursuant to the provisions of this chapter which is voluntarily surrendered by 
the licensee may be cancelled or revoked without a hearing unless the licensee files a written 
request for a hearing within thirty days after receiving written notice of the revocation or 
cancellation from the commission. 

Source: SL 2015, ch 220,§ 3. 

If the requested action is taken by the Commission, the licensee will be sent written notification of 
the revocation to be effective thirty (30) days from receipt of the revocation notice unless a 
written request for a hearing is received. If thirty days (30) elapses and no written appeal request is 
received, the license will be revoked and destroyed. 

Page 32 of 98



Page 33 of 98



Page 34 of 98



Page 35 of 98



Dated the 9th day of November 2022 

\__ /l__ /

1 

/ . 

----52 . . -- -T, ·� i ,�£�-- - -- -
. -� C, ,J_.L,L----- \.. --C I(,, 

- / 

Susan Christian, CIA 
Executive Secretary 
South Dakota Commission on Gaming 
445 E. Capital Avenue 
Pierre, SD, 57501

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Susan Christian, do hereby certify that I served a copy of the foregoing Notice of Hearing upon: 

Matthew Steinlicht 

By US Mail first class with postage prepaid on the 9th day of November 2022 

Page 36 of 98



Page 37 of 98



42-7B-35. Age of participants--Violation as misdemeanor.

Any participant in any gaming shall be twenty-one years or older. No licensee may permit any 

person who is less than twenty-one years of age to participate in any gaming. A violation of this 

section by a participant is a Class 1 misdemeanor and a violation by a licensee is a Class 1 

misdemeanor and may form the basis for revocation of a retail license. 

Name of complaint: 

Address: 

Brandon Snyder 

87 Sherman Street 

Deadwood, SD 57732 

(605) 578-3074

The following witnesses could give testimony about the complaint: 

Brandon Snyder 

87 Sherman Street 

Deadwood, SD 57732 

(605) 578-3074

NOTICE TO: 

Mathew S Steinlicht 

(DEFENDANT) 

Hand Delivered to: 

Rensch Law Office 

832 St. Joseph Street 

Per Oct 13, 2022 letter 

You are hereby notified that this complaint has been received by the Executive Secretary, Susan 

Christian. Pursuant to the rules, you have 20 (twenty) days to answer this complaint. The answer 

may admit, deny, qualify, or explain the allegations contained in the complaint. You must file an 

original response with the Executive Secretary of the South Dakota Commission on Gaming. 

Attach additional sheets of paper listing additional witnesses if necessary. Please mail response 
to the following address: 

South Dakota Commission on Gaming 

Executive Secretary 

Susan Christian 

445 E Capitol Avenue 

Pierre, SD 57501 

(605) 773-6051

Page 38 of 98



Page 39 of 98



Page 40 of 98



Page 41 of 98



Page 42 of 98



Page 43 of 98



Page 44 of 98



Page 45 of 98



Page 46 of 98



Page 47 of 98



Page 48 of 98



Style ool f 

  
20:18:12.01:16. Premise monitoring required. An operatortis-requiredto shall have at leastone ——| ¢ ted [JG1]: Style - ARSD Drafting Manual, pg. 14. 

This sentence states a duty of the operator, not an assumed 

employee whose |primary-duties-are duty is to ensure [the licensee fhas full view and control of any eouenien: J 

Commented [JG2]: Style - A comma is unnecessary here. ] 

gaming operated lon [the premises. If two or more buildings are adjacent, share a common or party (¢ ted [JG3]: What follows isa single duty. There _| 
may be confusion as to whether other duties are implied 

wall, have interior access, and share a common operator or route operator, aticensed-empleyee \ but not specified. J 

Commented [JG4]: Clarity - One should use one term to ) 

describe each subject in a rule section. Is it the "operator"? 

Or the "employee"? Both are licensed by the Commission. 

te-comph with the requirements of SDCL-42-78-40-the operator shall have at least one employee C ted [JG5]: Clarity - "Gaming," "gaming device," 
and "gaming equipment" are all defined in SDCL 42-7B-4. 

What is defined as gaming is not something that one would 

Operate. Gaming devices or gaming equipment, however, 

would be operated. | recommend either striking "operate" 

  

  

  

  

for every {three retail licenses |whose primary duties are to ensure that the licensee has full view 

  

and control of any gaming operated on the premises. To comply with the requirements of SDCL or adding "gaming device" or "gaming equipment." 

. . , : , Commented [JG6]: Clarity - The use of the definite article 
42-7B-40|| the operator may use an electronic device or other monitoring equipment to assist in suggests that the premises has been clearly specified 
  

previously in the section. At best, it is implied. | presume 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

gue * ° : . : : that the “operator's premises" is meant here. With that 
monitoring-joutit-svill . The device or equipment may hot substitute for a required employee. clarification, retaining "garning" and striking "operated" 

might be preferable-as in "...any gaming on the operator's 

\ premises" or, perhaps more specifically per SDCL 42-7B-4, 

Source: 25 SDR 4, effective July 27, 1998. "..any garning in the operator's licensed gaming 
General Authority: SDCL 42-7B-7, 42-7B-11(13), 42-78-40, es 
Law Implemented: SDCL 42-7B-40. Commented [JG7]: Clarity - In statute, the terms 

"retailer" and "operator" are describe two different types of 

licenses. Because SDCL 42-7B-4 does not clearly distinguish 

10: . 8 ‘ - between the two, what | gathered from the Commission 

20:18:12.01:23. Age of participants. No licensee may allow any person under-2+. twenty-one website on licenses is that an operator license is need( .. [1] J 

years of age to gambleeiter in-the-gaming-area-of-a-casine or be present at a |gambling table Commvaried GS) Carty: Many of the seme cisriey 
issues discussed above with the first new sentence ard (2) 

slot machine or other area in which gambling is conducted, untess_en-exemption-or deviation Commented [JG9}: Style - End an introductory 
\ prepositional phrase of five or more words with a comma. 

front-this-tule-is approved _by-the executive seeretary Nothing/shall may [prevent any person under Commented [JG10}: Clarity - The use of "it" may 
reference “operator,” “device," or "equipment." Creat{ 13] | 

24 twenty-one years of age from passing through fa casino ko nongaming areas. Commented [JG11]: Legality - SDCL 42-7B-40 also serves     as General Authority as it authorizes the Commission { [4] ] 

Commented [JG12]: Does this mean all establishments 

and employees that may be licensed by the Gaming [5] 

  

wa 

a
 

Source: 44 SDR 151, effective April 30, 2018. 
  

  

General Authority: SDCL 42-7B-7. Commented [JG13]: Style - Manual, pg. 19. ] 

Law Implemented: SDCL 42-7B-35. Commented [JG14]: Clarity -"Gambling table" isnot _| 
defined in statute or rule, that | can find. You may be { [6] 
  

| Commented [JG15]: Style - Manual, pg. 17. 
  

Commented [JG16]: Style - This is the more complete 

prohibition. Manual, pg. 15. 

Commented [JG17]: Clarity - It does not appear that 

"casino" is defined in SDCL 42-7B-4 or ARSD 20:18:01:( J      

Page 49 of 98



Style nel fin, 

  

| Page 1: [1] Commented [JG7] Justin Goetz 11/8/2022 4:01:00 PM 

Clarity - In statute, the terms "retailer" and "operator" are describe two different types of licenses. Because SDCL 

42-7B-4 does not clearly distinguish between the two, what | gathered from the Commission website on licenses is 

that an operator license is needed for slot machine placement plus gaming tables, while the retailer is only for 

gaming tables. 

If that is the case, then is it appropriate for the section's subject to be an operator? Shouldn't it be "retailer"? 

Indeed, SDCL 42-7B-40 - the law this rule implements - only references a retailer. 

  
A 

| Page 1: [2] Commented [JG8] Justin Goetz 11/8/2022 4:01:00 PM S| 

Clarity - Many of the same clarity issues discussed above with the first new sentence are present in this added 

content to the second sentence. 

  

| Page 1: [3] Commented [JG10] Justin Goetz 11/8/2022 4:09:00 PM | 

Clarity - The use of "it" may reference "operator," "device," or "equipment." Creating a fourth, short sentence 

eliminates any potential ambiguity. 

  

Style - Use of "may not" instead of "will not." Manual, pgs. 14-15. 

  
A 

| Page 1: [4] Commented [JG11] Justin Goetz 11/8/2022 4:12:00 PM 

Legality - SDCL 42-7B-40 also serves as General Authority as it authorizes the Commission to promulgate rules 

regarding the "number of employees required to monitor the premises." 

  A 

| Page 1: [5] Commented [JG12]  JustinGoetz 11/8/2022 4:18:00 PM | 
Does this mean all establishments and employees that may be licensed by the Gaming Commission? If so, then 

leave. If this is only meant to capture one of the types of licensee, then it needs to be tailored to do so. 

  
A 

| Page 1: [6] Commented [JG14] Justin Goetz 11/8/2022 4:33:00 PM 

Clarity - "Gambling table" is not defined in statute or rule, that | can find. You may be able to get away with relying 

upon a common definition, but some of the "gaming devices" defined in SDCL 42-7B-4 are not "tables" per se. 

Would "gaming device" be more accurate here? Would that also capture sports wagering "gaming equipment", if 

that is something the Commission also wants to prohibit someone under 21 from being present by? Perhaps 

"gaming equipment" might then be best used? 

  
A 

| Page 1:[7] Commented [JG17]  JustinGoetz 11/8/2022 4:22:00 PM | 
Clarity - It does not appear that "casino" is defined in SDCL 42-7B-4 or ARSD 20:18:01:01. You may be able to rely 

upon a common definition of casino, but would it make more sense to use one of the myriad defined terms in both 

provisions that describe a more discrete area instead of an undefined term, given how precisely this sentence is 

otherwise worded? 

  

A

Page 50 of 98



Page 51 of 98



Page 52 of 98



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

87 Sherman Street • Deadwood, SD 57732  
(605) 578-3074 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
1 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

South Dakota Commission on Gaming  
Administrative Hearings and Quarterly Business Meeting 

Deadwood City Hall, Deadwood, South Dakota 

MINUTES 
September 28, 2022 

At 9:00 a.m. the meeting was called to order. Chairman Karen Wagner, Vice Chairman Karl Fischer, 
Commissioner Spencer Hawley, Commissioner Bob Goetz, and Commissioner Harry Christianson were 
present. Staff members present for the meeting were Doug Abraham, Commission Attorney; Susan Christian, 
Executive Secretary; Mark Heltzel, Deputy Executive Secretary; Kelly Hanson, Operations Manager; Brian 
Swets, Enforcement Agent; Brandon Snyder, Enforcement Agent; and Phil Schlief, IT Specialist. 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wagner at 9:00 a.m. and a quorum was present. 

On a roll call all were present. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Vice Chairman Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Chairman Wagner Aye 

Conflicts of Interest Disclosure 

On a roll call no conflicts of interest were disclosed. 

Commissioner Goetz  Nay 
Vice Chairman Fischer  Nay 
Commissioner Hawley  Nay 
Commissioner Christianson Nay 
Chairman Wagner Nay 

Page 53 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
2 

Administrative Hearing 

The court reporter for the hearing was Tina Pruss. The following cases were scheduled to be heard: 

 In the matter of one (1) seized slot machine
 SDCG vs DHIH, LLC dba as Hickok’s
 SDCG vs Mustang Sally

and
SDCG vs Jennifer Haefs

Chairman Wagner served as the hearing officer. 

The Matter of One Virus Shock Slot Machine 

The purpose of the hearing is to determine if the Virus Shock slot machine No. 2125000, U-4 000732, serial 
number 002527, which was seized from 814 Main Street, Gregory, South Dakota on June 9, 2022, is 
contraband and may be destroyed. Tera Kiley was served notice of the hearing by certified mail but was not 
present. The decision on this matter was deferred to Executive Session. 

DHIH, LLC dba Hickok’s 

Present for the hearing representing DHIH, LLC was Nick Moser, Attorney. This hearing is a contested case 
alleging grounds for disciplinary action alleging that on January 30, 2022, Hickok Casino allowed patrons to 
place sports wagers with other patrons at the Hickok Casino while in the bar area. Hickok Casino does not 
have approved sports wagering therefore the bets were in violation of SDCL 22-25-1. The decision on this 
matter was deferred to Executive Session. 

Mustang Sally 
Jennifer Haefs 

Present for the hearing representing Mustang Sally and Jennifer Haefs was Roger Tellinghuisein, Attorney. 
Toby Keehn, owner of Mustang Sally, was present and waived his 5th amendment rights and testified on his 
own behalf. Jennifer Haefs was present but invoked her 5th Amendment privilege and did not testify. The 
hearing was a contested case pursuant to an Initial Compliant alleging grounds for disciplinary action as a 
result of knowingling placing and accepting proxy sports wagers, allowing the owner to participate in 
gaming on his own premises and as a proxy for individuals, and extending credit for the purpose of sports 
wagering. Staff recommended that the license’s for Mustang Sally be revoked with a fine and the license for 
Jennifer Haefs be revoked with a fine. The decision on this matter was deferred to Executive Session. 

A brief recess was taken at 10:57 a.m. and resumed at 11:07 a.m. 

The hearing portion of the meeting was concluded at 11:29 a.m. 

General Meeting 

Chairman Wagner called the general meeting to order at 11:30 a.m. 

Page 54 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
3 

Adoption of Quarterly Business Meeting Agenda 

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the meeting agenda. Vice Chairman Fischer seconded the 
motion which carried unanimously. 

June 22, 2022, Quarterly Meeting 

Commissioner Hawley made a motion to adopt the minutes as drafted for the June 22, 2022, quarterly 
meeting. Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Old Business 

• Under 21 years of age on the Casino’s gaming floor

Chairman Wagner stated that there was an old business item to be discussed regarding the underage 
gaming. This was an issue that was brought forth and discussed at the June 22nd meeting. At that point in 
time the industry had asked that we allow them the opportunity to make some changes and corrections, 
and to deal with resolving the issue of the underage individuals that are on the gaming floor. At this point 
we will have the staff provide comments, then will take comments from the industry, and then we will ask 
questions. 

Staff Comments 

Susan Christian, Executive Secretary, stated that since the June 22nd meeting this is what was identified: 

• 16 minors were on the gaming floor for more than a few minutes
• In 2022 there were 84 fake IDs identified and were reported to the police department and 82 of

them were identified by Saloon #10
• 3 minors were arrested for participating in gambling
• 2 minors had fake IDs; 2 minors were stopped before they participated in gambling
• 1 minor put money in a machine, but it didn’t accept the bill and an agent had approached the

individual

Since the August 18th meeting with the industry one incident in a casino did occur and resulted in an 
informal consultation. In lite of that we have observed the industry step up by putting up signs, two places 
have put out formal polices to their employees, casinos are having meetings with staff instructing them to 
more actively engage and to be actively engaged in checking IDs. Casinos seem to be more actively 
engaged for checking IDs for alcohol than for the gambling. 

Mark Heltzel, Deputy Executive Secretary, stated that he was seeing an upswing in signage around town, 
posters, found 6 minors that attempted or tried to gamble, casinos are reworking the gaming floor and 
roping off the floor for families. Actively engaged in checking IDs for gaming is not at the same level as for 
checking IDs for alcohol. 

Page 55 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
4 

Comments by the Industry 

Roger Tellinghusien, representing the Deadwood Gaming Association, addressed the Commission that this 
is a signification topic of conversation amongst the casino managers and owners. The industry has taken this 
to heart and are trying to make positive changes, more signage, more staffing, and as importantly education 
of staff and impart the significant of the need to follow through. There were a lot of people in Deadwood at 
times for special events. There are going to be occasions where an underage individual is on the floor that 
doesn’t get caught. There needs to be consequences for the ones that break the law. The industry will 
continue to address the issue. 

Staff Comments 

Deputy Executive Heltzel stated that the underage individuals are arrested, taken to jail, and charged with a 
misdemeanor. 

Commissioner Christianson stated that there are two concerns underage gambling, and underage minors on 
the gaming floor with parents. 

Chairman Wagner stated that the bottom line is that we are going into 90 days and the Commission was 
expecting more than just a conversation as we are still seeing the types of individuals on the floor. The 
underage and kids those are issues and concerns. How many of the casinos have added staff for security for 
more than just special events. 

Deputy Secretary Heltzel stated that the Commission on Gaming along with the Deadwood police 
department on October 4, 2022, are presenting an ID class and there are currently 200 signed up for the 
class. 

Chairman Wagner stated that are often hearing comments that as long as the minor is three feet from the 
machine then it is okay for them to be in the vicinity. There are employees that still may be operating under 
that thought process. This is not in the rule and needs to be put forth to employees that it is not an option 
and minors need to be off the floor. So, in looking at the rules as they currently stand, do they provide 
enough clarity. 

Executive Secretary Christian stated that rule 20:18:12.01:23 Age of participants, has a lot of ambiguity in the 
rule as loitering and exceptions cause problems. The rule 20:18:12.01:16 Premise monitoring required, came 
into effect in 1998 and has never been looked at. This rule needs to be definitive. Casinos are unable to have 
ample coverage with the monitors in the cage or bar area. The ambiguity of the rule is very difficult, and it 
puts the industry and the commission at odds. 

Deputy Executive Secretary Hetzel stated that some places put up monitors in the cashier cage, but the 
problem is how do you monitor the floor and take care of customers. 

Chairman Wagner directed staff to move forward and look at the rules and to have something for the 
December meeting. Staff will work with the industry when going through the rules. 

Page 56 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
5 

Remarks by Executive Secretary 

Susan Christian, Executive Secretary, gave a brief report on the following items: 

• Executive Secretary Christian, Commissioner Wagner, Commissioner Hawley, and Deputy Executive
Secretary, Mark Heltzel will be attending G2E in October

• Topics at G2E will be crypto currency, cashless wagering, sports wagering, and a new concept of
sports wagering based on the stock market

• A reminder to the industry of the ID training on October 4th and that the training will be repeated if
needed

Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliance 

BY Development, dba Cadillac Jack’s Gaming 

A monetary penalty of $2,500.00 to be paid not later than September 26, 2022, was imposed for a complaint 
that was filed alleging that the Defendant engaged in conduct constituting grounds for disciplinary action 
by allowing on August 5, 2022, an underage person to participate in gaming by playing a slot machine. This 
is in violation of 42-7B-35. The complaint further alleged that during this period of time there was not an 
employee who was in full view and control of the gaming being operated. This is in violation of 42-7B-40. 
An informal consultation was held, and licensee agreed to the penalty and paid the fine. 

Commissioner Christianson made a motion to accept the Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary 
Compliance and the imposed penalty. Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion which carried 
unanimously. 

Super G Investments, dba Silverado/Franklin 

A monetary penalty of $2,500.00 to be paid not later than September 26, 2022, was imposed for a complaint 
that was filed alleging that the Defendant engaged in conduct constituting grounds for disciplinary action 
by allowing on August 19, 2022, an underage person to participate in gaming by playing a slot machine. 
This is in violation of 42-7B-35. The complaint further alleged that during this period of time there was not 
an employee who was in full view and control of the gaming being operated. This is in violation of 42-7B-40. 
An informal consultation was held, and licensee agreed to the penalty and paid the fine. 

Vice Chairman Fischer made a motion to accept the Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and 
the imposed penalty. Commissioner Christianson seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Christianson stated that its important that we keep these fines reasonable when they are self-
reporting. We want to encourage self-reporting. Chairman Wagner commented that she appreciates the fact 
that they did self-report.   

Page 57 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
6 

Andrea Speiser 

A monetary penalty of $100.00 to be paid not later than September 26, 2022, was imposed for a complaint 
that was filed alleging that the Defendant engaged in conduct constituting grounds for disciplinary action 
by accepting wagers in amounts over the posted 3 Card Poker maximum bet limit. An informal consultation 
was held, and licensee agreed to the penalty and paid the fine. 

Commissioner Hawley made a motion to accept the Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and 
the imposed penalty. Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Revocation of License Steve Aristide 

On August 31, 2022, Steve Aristide voluntarily surrendered his gaming license after pleading guilty to a Class 
5 Felony. On August 23, 2022, Licensee received an Order Suspending Imposition of Sentence with two 
years (2) probation. Staff recommended to revoke his license and that he be put on the Exclusion List. Mr. 
Aristide was not present at the meeting. 

Vice Chairman Fischer made a motion to revoke his license. Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion 
which carried unanimously.  

Commissioner Christianson made a motion to put Steve Aristide on the Exclusion List. Commissioner Hawley 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Deadwood Licensing Matters 

Key License Approvals 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel recommended approval of the following: 

Collette Ladson 
Janet Keating 
Zachary Morris 
Sheldon Johnson 

Jason Walth 
Isaac Rieb 
James Riley 
Kevin Whalen 

Andrew Burke 
Newton Glassman 
Rocco DiPucchio 
Gabriel De Alba 

Additional Key Approval – Adam Halter 

Vice Chairman Fischer made a motion to approve the Key license approvals as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Business License Approvals 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel recommended approval of the following: 

 Approval of an Associated Equipment license (12342-AE) for Stadium Technology Group

 Approval of a Manufacturer license (11968-MA) for Bluberi Gaming Canada, Inc.

Page 58 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
7 

 In September of 2021 the following sports wagering service providers license were issued temporary
conditional license: BetMGM, LLC (12269-SW), Internet Sports International, LTD (ISI) (12253-SW),
and IGT (12241-SW) were issued a license with conditions.

The conditions were for 12 months to allow for the completion of the background investigation of 
contracted third parties, or until the Commission makes a final determination on the application and 
upon the following conditions: 

• Successful completion of the background investigation within twelve (12) months,
• Report all disciplinary action taken against Applicant by any regulatory agency and providing

updates to Commission staff as to the status of any disciplinary action,
• Taking full responsibility for the actions or inactions of any third party contracted with too

provided sports wagering services to licensed operators in Deadwood, complete and sign
attached agreement, and

• Provided a list of all third-party vendors contracted with to provided sports wagering services
to licensed operators within the City of Deadwood, including associated equipment
providers, within fourteen (14) days of licensure and supplemented within fourteen (14) days
of any additional contracts

Staff would ask that these conditions remain in place at this time until the March 2023 meeting. 

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the business licenses as staff recommended. Commissioner 
Hawley seconded the motion which carried unanimously.  

Business License Renewal 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel recommended approval of the following: 

 Retail license (0117-RT) held by Pat Roberts which is currently unassigned.

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the business license renewal as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Public Comment 

Michael Johnson addressed the Commission reminding them of the history of the city and that it is more 
than just a gaming city. It is a family town for people to come to visit and to enjoy the history of Deadwood. 

Date of Next Meeting 

The next quarterly meeting is scheduled for December 14, 2022. 

Page 59 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
8 

Executive Session 

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to go into Executive Session. Vice Chairman Fischer seconded the 
motion which carried unanimously. 

At 12:35 p.m. the Commissioners went into Executive Session pursuant to SDCL 1-25-2 (1) (3) and (4) and 
42-7B-8.1 (4)

The Executive Session was concluded at 1:24 p.m. with the following action taken. 

Decision on Administrative Hearings 

Seized Virus Shock slot machine 

Vice Chairman Fischer made a motion to allow staff to destroy the Virus Shock slot machine. Commissioner 
Goetz seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

DHIH, LLC 

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to impose a penalty of $2,500.00 due not later than October 15, 2022. 
Vice Chairman Fischer seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Mustang Sally 

Commissioner Christianson made a motion to revoke Mustang Sally’s Operator and Retail license and 
impose a penalty of $25,000.00 due not later than October 31, 2022. Commissioner Goetz seconded the 
motion which carried unanimously. 

Jennifer Haefs 

Commissioner Christianson made a motion to revoke Jennifer Haefs support license. Commissioner Hawley 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Exclusion List 

Commissioner Hawley made a motion to put Tyrone Reed on the Exclusion List. Commissioner Christianson 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Hawley made a motion to put Isaac Kermu on the Exclusion List. Commissioner Christianson 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

Page 60 of 98



SDCG Meeting Minutes September 28, 2022 
9 

Adjournment 

With no further business to be discussed Vice Chairman Fischer made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
Commissioner Christianson seconded the motion which carried unanimously. 

The meeting was adjourned at 1:29 p.m. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Kathy Beringer 

_________________________________        _____________________________________ 
Karen Wagner, Madam Chairman Susan Christian, Executive Secretary

Page 61 of 98



Page 62 of 98



Page 63 of 98



Page 64 of 98



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capital Avenue • Pierre, SD 
57501 (605) 773-6051 • 
dor.sd.gov/gaming 

RESOLUTION 12-14-22-01 

Pursuant to Section 5 of the Deposit In Lieu of Bond Agreement entered into on September 28, 2022 
the South Dakota Commission on Gaming hereby authorizes and direct Doug Abraham and Susan 
Christian to                      release the funds on deposit with the First National Bank of Ft. Pierre, South Dakota to 
the Verendrye Benevolent Association. 

This action taken by the South Dakota Commission on Gaming meeting at Deadwood, South Dakota 
on the  14th of December 2022. 

Karen Wagner 
Chairman  

Page 65 of 98



Page 66 of 98



BUSINESS NAME 

South Dakota Commission on Gaming 
87 Sherman Street 

Deadwood, SD 57732 

SIMULCAST PROVIDER RENEWAL APPLICATION 

FORM: 4003 

AmWest Entertainment, LLC 
I 

BUSINESS ADDRESS I CITY 
13011 W Highway 42, Suite 107 Prospect

 
KY 
STATE I ZIP 

40059 
CODE

TYPE OF BUSINESS 

( ) CORPORATION ) PARTNERSHIP • ) LLC ( ) OTHER ______ _ 

PRINCIPAL OWNERS 

1. NAME % OF OWNERSHIP
Nelson E Clemmens   (LAST 4) 100 

DE

2. NAME

 

% OF OWNERSHIP 

ADDRESS CITY STATE I ZIP CODE 

3. NAME SSN (LAST 4) % OF OWNERSHIP 

ADDRESS CITY STATE I ZIP CODE 

4. NAME SSN (LAST 4) % OF OWNERSHIP 

ADDRESS CITY STATE I ZIP CODE 

If there are additional owners, please attach similar information on a separate page. 

PLEASE LIST ALL SITES AT WHICH YOU CURRENTLY SIMULCAST IN SOUTH DAKOTA 

1. LOCATION (BUSINESS) ADDRESS CITY STATE
Triple Crown 1_08 Military Road North Sioux City SD 
2. LOCATION (BUSINESS) ADDRESS CITY STATE 

3. LOCATION (BUSINESS) ADDRESS CITY STATE 

4. LOCATION (BUSINESS) ADDRESS CITY STATE 

ZIP CODE
57049 
ZIP CODE 

ZIP CODE 

ZIP CODE 

PLEASE LIST SOUTH DAKOTA CITIES YOU PLAN TO OPEN SIMULCAST LOCATIONS DURING THE RENEWAL YEAR 

Page 67 of 98



Page 68 of 98



Page 69 of 98



Page 70 of 98



Page 71 of 98



Page 72 of 98



Page 73 of 98



Page 74 of 98



Page 75 of 98



Page 76 of 98



Page 77 of 98



Page 78 of 98



Page 79 of 98



Page 80 of 98



Page 81 of 98



Page 82 of 98



Page 83 of 98



Page 84 of 98



Page 85 of 98



Page 86 of 98



Page 87 of 98



Page 88 of 98



Page 89 of 98



Page 90 of 98



Page 91 of 98



Page 92 of 98



Page 93 of 98



Page 94 of 98



Page 95 of 98



Page 96 of 98



Page 97 of 98



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

445 E. Capital Avenue • Pierre, SD 57501 

(605) 773-6051 • dor.sd.gov/gaming
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

Commissioners 

Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 

Dates for the 2023 Quarterly Meetings 

December 14, 2022

Staff is recommending approval of the following dates for the Quarterly meeting of the Commission for 2023. 

     • March 14, 2023

     •  June 13, 2023  

     • September 12, 2023

     •  December 12, 2023

Page 98 of 98


	Agenda 12142022
	meeting packet.pdf
	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	RECOMMENDATIONS sTEWARDS
	Fort Pierre Stewards Report and Recommendations
	recomendations attachments



	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	Hearing Ecoffey live racing


	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	Hearing Johnson live racing
	Hearing Cavanaugh live racing


	packet_Redacted

	meeting packet
	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	Steinlicht 5th and surrender of license



	memo revocation MS
	meeting packet
	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	MS signed Notice of hearing and IC 1192022
	signed IC BY Developement CJ's 1192022


	packet_Redacted

	meeting packet
	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	SDCOG Complaint Response 22-11-111
	comment period MP


	Unapproved Min 9-28-22 Meeting
	packet_Redacted
	packet_Redacted
	2023 AmWest Renewal
	2023 Triple Crown Renewal
	Resolution for release of VBA deposit
	2023 VBA Racing Application page 1
	licensing memo

	packet part 5 33





